
December 1st, 2025 

Please Note: The Council Meeting will be conducted at Rolla City Hall. Citizens are encouraged to watch the 
proceedings live on the City of Rolla, Missouri YouTube page at https://www.youtube.com/@City_of_Rolla/streams 

COUNCIL PRAYER 
     Ministerial Alliance 

AGENDA OF THE ROLLA CITY COUNCIL 
Monday, December 1st, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 

City Hall Council Chambers 
901 North Elm Street 

PRESIDING: Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven 

COUNCIL ROLL: Vacancy, AUGUST ROLUFS, ANDREW BEHRENDT, NATHAN CHIRBAN, 
STEVE JACKSON, AARON PACE, WILLIAM HAHN, TOM MC NEVEN, 
KEVIN GREVEN, DAVID SHELBY, TINA BALCH AND MICHEAL DICKENS 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Councilman Chirban 

I. CONSENT AGENDA –

A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of:
1. City Council Minutes – November 3rd, 2025
2. City Council Closed Session Minutes – November 3rd, 2025
3. City Council Minutes – November 17th, 2025
4. City Council Closed Session Minutes – November 17th, 2025

II. REPORT OF MAYOR and COUNCIL/REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS/CITY
DEPARTMENTS 

a) Environmental Services Department monthly report - October 2025
b) Building Codes monthly report – October 2025
c) Rolla Police Department monthly report – October 2025
d) Animal Control monthly report – October 2025
e) Rolla Municipal Court summary – October 2025
f) The Centre Income Statement ending - October 2025
g) Fire Incident Report for October 2025
h) City of Rolla Financials for October 2025
i) BPAC meeting minutes for May 5th, 2025, April 8th, 2025, and October 1, 2024

III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -

A. Public Hearing and Resolution  for Ozark Actor’s Theater (OATS) blight and declaration of historical structure
to be continued from November 17th. (Community Development Director Dawn Bell)

https://www.youtube.com/@City_of_Rolla/streams


2 | P a g e
December 1st, 2025 

IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS –

A. Jamie Meyers, Executive Director, Prevention Consultants of Missouri: Primary Prevention in Phelps County
B. Stevie Kearse, Executive Director RACC, Aimee Campbell, Tourism Director RACC: 2026 tourism/marketing

plans.

V. OLD BUSINESS –
A. Ordinance to enter into agreement with Donald Maggi, Inc., for Little Oaks Road Improvements. (PW Director

Darin Pryor) Final Reading

VI. NEW BUSINESS –

A. Resolution renewing contract for video production services with Image-In, LLC. (City Administrator Keith
Riesberg)

VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –   None

VIII. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION

IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

A. Motion to appoint John Butz to the Rolla Housing Authority to fill the unexpired term of
Ronald S. Robertson, expiring in April 2028.

B. Motion to reappoint Bob Desai to the Police Personnel Board for a 4-year term expiring in June 2029.
C. Motion to reappoint Jacob Rohter to the Board of Adjustment for a 2nd – 5-year term, expiring in June 2030.
D. Motion to reappoint Steve Jung to the Rolla Regional Economic Committee for a 3-year term, expiring in

December 2027
E. Motion to reappoint Bill Priest to the Rolla Housing Authority for a 4- year term expiring October 2029.

X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, December 15th.
B. Opening day of Candidate Filing: Tuesday, December 9th, 2025 at 8:00 am on the 3rd floor of the City Hall.
C. Wreath’s Across America, December 13th, 2025 (Parks Director Floyd Jernigan)

IX. CLOSED SESSION – Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 –  NONE

X. ADJOURNMENT -



November 3rd, 2025 

ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 3RD, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 
ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
901 NORTH ELM STREET 

Presiding:  Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV 

Council Members in Physical Attendance: August Rolufs, Andrew Behrendt, Aaron Pace, Nathan Chirban, 
Steve Jackson, Tom McNeven, David Shelby, Micheal Dickens and Tina Balch. 

Council Members Absent: Ward 1 Vacancy, Kevin Greven and William Hahn. 

Department Directors and Other City Officials in Physical Attendance: Public Works Director Darin Pryor, 
Fire Chief Jeff Breen, Community Development Director Dawn Bell, Environmental Service Director Roger 
Pankey, Parks Director Floyd Jernigan, City Planner Tom Coots, Police Chief Sean Fagan, Finance Director 
Steffanie Rogers, City Administrator John Butz, Incoming City Administrator Keith Riesberg, and City 
Counselor Todd Smith. 

Mayor Magdits called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. and asked Councilman Rolufs 
lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

I. CONSENT AGENDA –

A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of:
A. City Council Minutes – October 6th, 2025
B. City Council Minutes – October 20th, 2025
C. City Council Closed Session Minutes – October 20th, 2025

A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Pace to approve the minutes. Motion passed
unanimously by voice vote.

II. REPORT OF MAYOR and COUNCIL/REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS/CITY
DEPARTMENTS 

a) Environmental Services Department Monthly Report September 2025
b) Building Codes monthly report – September 2025
c) Rolla Municipal Court summary – September 2025
d) The Centre Income Statement ending September 2025
e) Fire Incident Report for September 2025

There were no questions regarding the reports.

III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -   NONE

IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS –  NONE

V. OLD BUSINESS –

A. Ordinance to approve the vacation of a utility easement at 4020 Hypoint North. (Community
Development Director Dawn Bell) City Counselor Todd Smith read the ordinance for its final
reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4886: AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE VACATION OF
AN EASEMENT LOCATED AT 4020 HYPOINT NORTH. A motion was made by Chirban,
seconded by Jackson to approve the ordinance. A roll call vote showed: Ayes: Balch, Dickens,
Chirban, Jackson, McNeven, Pace, Shelby, Behrendt, and Rolufs. Nays: None.

I.A.1



2 | P a g e
November 3rd, 2025 

B. Ordinance to authorize the Mayor to enter into a Development Agreement with the Woods Mill
Development LLC. (PW Director Darin Pryor) City Counselor Todd Smith read the ordinance for
its final reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4887: AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR
OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI TO EXECUTE ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF
ROLLA, MISSOURI A VOLUNTARY DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE
CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AND WOODS MILL DEVELOPMENT LLC. A motion was
made by Jackson, seconded by Pace, to approve the ordinance. A roll call vote showed: Ayes:
Behrendt, Jackson, Dickens, Shelby, Rolufs, Pace, Chirban, Balch, and McNeven. Nays: None

C. Ordinance to amend Chapter 18 of the City Code pertaining to trash service fees. (Environmental
Services Director Roger Pankey) City Counselor Todd Smith read the ordinance for its final
reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4888: AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 18-14 (a), 18-
16 (a), 18-23 AND SECTION 18-25 OF THE GENERAL ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF
ROLLA, MISSOURI KNOWN AS THE CODE OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AND
ENACTING NEW SECTIONS IN LIEU THEREOF PERTAINING TO RESIDENTIAL,
SPECIAL, AND COMMERCIAL REFUSE DISPOSAL AND COLLECTION.  A motion was
made by Pace, seconded by Behrendt, to approve the ordinance. A roll call vote showed: Ayes:
Dickens, Jackon, Shelby, Balch, McNeven, Chirban, Rolufs, Pace, and Behrendt. Nays: None

D. Ordinance to approve the annexation of certain property West of Woodcrest Dr. off Vichy Dr. into
the city of Rolla corporate limits and assigning R-3, Multi-Family Residential zoning for the
Audubon Ridge Development. (Com. Dev. Director Dawn Bell) City Counselor Todd Smith read
the ordinance for its final reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4889: AN ORDINANCE TO
APPROVE THE ANNEXATION OF CERTAIN PROPERTY IN SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 38
NORTH, RANGE 8 WEST INTO THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF ROLLA AND
ASSIGNING ZONING OF SAID PROPERTY AS THE R-3, MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
DISTRICT.  A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Chirban to approve the ordinance. A
roll call vote showed: Ayes: McNeven, Dickens, Rolufs, Shelby, Behrendt, Balch, Pace, Jackson,
and Chirban. Nays: None

VI. NEW BUSINESS –

A. Motion to Select Architectural/Planning Services for the Centre’s Natatorium and Related Spaces
(City Administrator Keith Riesberg) Six qualifications were received and four were interviewed.
Staff recommends moving forward with the selection of Cordogan Clark. Staff would then
negotiate a scope of services contract that is broken down into tasks. Staff does not feel that an
April election will allow for the firm to do a suitable job. In an April election, the voters would be
asked to fix what we have and nothing more. An August election would provide a more holistic
approach and would better benefit from the firm who would provide more opportunity for
community engagement. City Administrator Riesberg explained an error sited in the paper that
said the cost to engage would be $400,000, when in reality, it is anticipated the cost to be $50,000.
May 26th, 2026, would be the filing deadline for the August 2026 Election. A motion was made by
Rolufs, seconded by Shelby, directing staff to proceed in negotiations with Cordogan Clark for
scope of services and contract. Jackson abstained from voting due to having a professional
relationship with one or more of the firms. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. Staff will
return in two weeks with a draft Scope of Services Contract. 

VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –

A. Motion to secure the purchase of a refuse collection truck from Armor Equipment.
(Environmental Services Director Roger Pankey) A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by
Behrendt, to approve the purchase of the 4th automated trash truck. Motion passed unanimously by
voice vote.

I . A . 2



3 | P a g e
November 3rd, 2025 

VIII. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION

A. David Dukes reiterated ongoing concerns about 70H and Kratom being sold at local gas stations. City
Counselor Todd Smith explained that regulating controlled substances falls under state jurisdiction.
Mayor Magdits emphasized that if the City cannot regulate these substances, it should focus on
educating the community. He suggested reaching out to Jamie Meyers and David Chirban to
determine whether they are actively addressing the issue. A meeting is scheduled for tomorrow at
11:30 a.m. in the Sky Room of the Phelps County Courthouse to discuss the use of Opioid
Settlement Funds. Chief Fagan acknowledged the concern, noting that while the substances are not
currently illegal, this limits law enforcement’s ability to take action. He added that outside
organizations are working diligently to address the issue at the state level.

IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

A. SCRVG Recognition (Mayor Magdits) -This item was set aside by Mayor Magdits for a future
meeting.

B. Recognition of S&T students regarding the 1501 train engine project. Parks Director Floyd Jernigan
shared that the Frisco 1501 is the train at Schuman Park. The builders plate had been vandalized or
stolen over the years. Dr. Laura Bartlett explained that Mo S&T is one of the few schools with
Metallurgical Engineering and a credited foundry program. With the use of a 3D printer, students
made a computer cad model of the plate, loaded it into a 3D printer to remake the 1501 Builders
Plate. Dr. Bartlett shared that November 15th from 9am – noon in Room 244 in McNutt Hall, is open
foundry day. Anyone from the community can come and participate. Mayor and Council thanked Dr.
Bartlett and students for recreating the plate.

C. Recognition of City Administrator John Butz on his retirement. (Mayor Magdits)
Mayor Magdits presented retiring City Administrator John Butz with a Proclamation of Gratitude for
his years of service to the community who then shared some parting thoughts.

D. Motion to re-appoint Eric Showalter for the Board of Public Works (exp Aug 2028).
A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Rolufs, to approve the re-appointment. The motion
passed unanimously by voice vote.

E. Motion to re-appoint Joe Polizzi to the Board of Public Works (exp Aug 2029)
A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Rolufs, to approve the re-appointment. The motion
passed unanimously by voice vote.

F. Councilmember Dickens shared that he and Councilmember Balch have been dealing with a trash
issue in their Ward since May and asked to revisit the topic of Administrative Search Warrants.
City Counselor Todd Smith was asked to shared his expertise on the matter. Mr. Smith stated he
encourages the use of Administrative Warrants. Mayor Magdits shared the concerns from past
Councilmembers which ultimately voted the process down. City Counselor Todd Smith explained
the number of ways to address a concern that this process would be grossly abused. City
Administrator Riesberg said that staff would gather information and bring it forward to Council for
review at a later date; at which time Council can decide whether the majority would like to officially
revisit the topic for discussion.

X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, November 17th.
B. Opening day of Candidate Filing: Tuesday, December 9th, 2025 at 8:00 am on the 3rd floor of the

City Hall.
C. Dickens reminded everyone of the food distribution at the Phelps County Dream Center.

I . A . 3



4 | P a g e
November 3rd, 2025 

D. Jackson asked the Mayor to move forward with the development of a coalition to discuss solutions
regarding homelessness in the area.

IX. CLOSED SESSION – Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (3) Personnel

At 8:21pm, a motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Pace to go into closed session. A roll call vote 
showed: Ayes: McNeven, Behrendt, Jackson, Pace, Dickens, Rolufs, Balch, Shelby, and Chirban. Nays: 
None 

At 8:27 pm, Council returned from closed session where a personnel matter was discussed. No final action 
taken.  

X. ADJOURNMENT - With nothing further to discuss, Mayor Magdits dismissed the meeting at 8:27 pm

______________________________ _______________________________ 
CITY CLERK MAYOR              

I . A . 4



November 17th, 2025 

ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 17TH, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 
ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
901 NORTH ELM STREET 

Presiding:  Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven 

Council Members in Physical Attendance: Andrew Behrendt, Nathan Chirban, Steve Jackson, William Hahn, 
Kevin Greven, Tom McNeven, David Shelby, Micheal Dickens and Tina Balch. 

Council Members Absent: Ward 1 Vacancy, August Rolufs, Aaron Pace, Mayor Louis J. Magdits 

Department Directors and Other City Officials in Physical Attendance: Public Works Director Darin Pryor, 
Fire Chief Jeff Breen, Community Development Director Dawn Bell, Parks Director Floyd Jernigan, Police 
Chief Sean Fagan, Finance Director Steffanie Rogers, City Administrator Keith Riesberg, and City 
Counselor Todd Smith. 

Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 pm and asked 
Councilman Behrendt lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

At this time, Mayor Pro-Tempore invited Stevie Kearse, Executive Director and Abby Sugrue, Events 
Specialist with RACC to share details regarding Small Business Saturday (November 29th) and the 
Christmas Parade (Saturday, December 6th at 10:00 am)  

Jeff Sanquist with the Rolla Area Sister Cities Association shared the details regarding the 13th Annual 
Christkindl Markt and Lichternacht with a “Gingerbread Wonderland on Route 66” theme.  

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS -

A. Public Hearing for Ozark Actor’s Theater (OATS) blight and declaration of historical structure.
To be continued to a date certain of December 1st. (Community Development Director Dawn Bell)
At 6:45pm a motion was made by Hahn, seconded by Jackson to open the Public Hearing. Motion
passed unanimously by voice vote. A motion was then made by Chirban, seconded by McNeven, to
continue the public hearing to December 1st. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

II. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS –

A. Rodney Bourne, RMU GM: RMU 4th Quarter Presentation.
Rodney Bourne shared 4th Quarter financial reports. Total operating expenses were $38,744,264, a
$5,848,341 increase from 4th Quarter in 2024. Total Net Loss was $1,501,568, due to increased cost
of purchased power and expenses relating to the tornado.

III. OLD BUSINESS –  None

IV. NEW BUSINESS –  None

V. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –

A. Motion to award bid for 5 RPD Vehicles to Don Brown Chevrolet (state bid). (Police Chief Fagan)
A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Shelby, to award the state bid for $279,730 ($55,946
per vehicle) to Don Brown Chevrolet in St. Louis. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

I.A.5



2 | P a g e
November 17th, 2025 

B. Motion to award bid to Smith & Wessen for the replacement of RPD guns and holsters
A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Chirban, to approve the purchase of 45 - Smith &
Wesson pistols and accessories for $51,793.50. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

C. Motion to award bid and Ordinance to Donald Maggi, Inc for Little Oaks Road Improvements.
(PW Director Darin Pryor) A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Hahn to award the bid to
Donald Maggi. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. City Counselor Todd Smith read the
ordinance for its first reading, by title: AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO
EXECUTE A CERTAIN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND
DONALD MAGGI, INC.

VI. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION

A. Larry Tate of 1829 Sandstone Drive thanked Council for their help with the renaming of Sandstone
Drive and shared his positive interactions with a number of city staff.

B. Lister Florence shared that the Optimist Tree Lot would be open for business on the Friday after
Thanksgiving.

C. David Duke shared his feelings regarding Torch gambling machines, Opioid like drugs being sold in
gas stations, and state statute requirements for candidates filing.

VII. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

A. Discussion regarding Administrative Search Warrants. City Administrator Keith Riesberg briefed
Council on Administrative Search Warrants as discussed by previous Council. Council discussed
with City Counselor Todd Smith different aspects for clarification on the previously failed
ordinance. Council asked City Administrator Riesberg to work with the City Counselor Smith to
bring back a clean-up version of the ordinance for first reading at a future meeting.

B. Motion to appoint Lance Thurman to the Board of Adjustment to fill the unexpired term of Matt
Miller (exp March 2028) A motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Balch to approve the
appointment. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

C. Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven, acknowledged that Small Business Saturday would be on
Saturday, November 29th: Official Proclamation to be presented at the ribbon cutting on November
24th.

D. Hahn requested a rolling list of Council approved projects to be submitted with the monthly reports.

E. Greven shared that Missouri S&T was now a Purple Heart University.

VIII. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, December 1st.
B. Opening day of Candidate Filing: Tuesday, December 9th, 2025 at 8:00 am on the 3rd floor of the

City Hall. City Clerk Powell shared that candidates would need a current government issued picture
ID.

I.A.6



3 | P a g e
November 17th, 2025 

IX. CLOSED SESSION – Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (2) Leasing of Real Estate and (12)
Negotiated contract 

At 8:02 pm a motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Hahn, to go into closed session. A roll call 
vote showed: Ayes: Greven, McNeven, Behrendt, Balch, Hahn, Jackson, Shelby, Dickens, and 
Chirban. Nays: none.  

NOTE: Closed session took place in the 3rd Floor Conference Room of the Rolla City Hall to utilize 
teleconferencing.  

At 9:21 pm, Council returned from closed session where there were no reportable actions taken. 

X. ADJOURNMENT -

With nothing further to discuss the meeting was adjourned.

I . A . 7





II.a
.1





II.b
.1





I I . c . 1



I I . c . 2



I I . c . 3





I I . d . 1





I I . e . 1



I I . e . 2



I I . f . 1



II.f.2



II.f.3



II.f.4



II.f.5





II.g
.1





I I . h . 1



I I . h . 2



I I . h . 3



I I . h . 4



I I . h . 5



I I . h . 6



I I . h . 7



I I . h . 8



I I . h . 9



I I . h . 1 0



I I . h . 1 1



I I . h . 1 2



I I . h . 1 3



I I . h . 1 4



I I . h . 1 5





I I . i . 1



I I . i . 2



I I . i . 3



I I . i . 4



I I . i . 5



I I . i . 6



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT:  Community Development  ACTION REQUESTED:  Public Hearing & Resolution 

SUBJECT:  Finding of blight and historical significance for CDBG application for Ozark Actors Theatre 

PREPARED BY:  Dawn Bell, Director 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

(CASE/PROJECT #)      MEETING DATE: December 1, 2025 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
Overview:   
Ozark Actors Theatre (OAT), a long-standing nonprofit arts organization in Rolla, is seeking funding 
through the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, administered by the Missouri 
Department of Economic Development. 

As a designated non-entitlement community, the City of Rolla is eligible to apply for these funds on 
behalf of OAT. OAT intends to use the grant for façade improvements to its Pine Street Studio building, 
located at 612 N. Pine Street. The proposed improvements will help preserve a historically significant 
structure while also addressing blight in the downtown area. 

The application requires that a finding of blight has been made and that the building has been 
designated as historic or iconic structure.  City staff, along with OAT’s design professional, have made 
findings of several deficiencies which would be classified as ‘blight’ under 24 CFR 570.208.  The structure 
is known as the Null building and was formerly a furniture store. The store burned in a fire which destroyed 
much of the block in 1939. The building was quickly rebuilt with reinforced concrete intended to be fireproof 
(advanced construction for the time). 

Background information: 
City Council approved a resolution for the City to apply for the CDBG funding, with OAT as a sub-
applicant, on October 20, 2025. 

Fiscal considerations: N/A 

Recommendation:  Approve a resolution with a finding of blight and historical significance/iconic 
structure for 612 North Pine, Pine Street Studio, Ozark Actors Theatre 

III.A.1



Resolution No.________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, WITH OZARK ACTORS 
THEATRE AS SUB-APPLICANT, TO ESTABLISH ELIGIBILITY FOR THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) DOWNTOWN 
REVITALIZATION PROGRAM FOR RENOVATIONS TO 612 NORTH PINE STREET, 
THE PINE STREET STUDIO. 

WHEREAS, the City of Rolla, in Resolution Number 2075, established the intention to pursue a 
Community Development Block Grant application and execute an Applicant/Sub-applicant 
Agreement between the City and Ozark Actors Theatre (OAT); and 

WHEREAS, Ozark Actors Theatre, a nonprofit organization headquartered in Rolla, owns the 
Pine Street Studio, at 612 North Pine Street, built in 1939 as the Null Building, a historic 
structure that has served as a community anchor for arts, commerce, and education since its 
establishment; and 

WHEREAS, the development of the City of Rolla’s Comprehensive Plan has included a 
thorough needs assessment and public meetings to solicit and compile the views of citizens and 
special interests; and 

WHEREAS, as part of the City of Rolla’s Comprehensive Plan update process, a goal has been 
identified to “revitalize Downtown Rolla as a vibrant destination for shopping, dining, 
entertainment, and special events”, with Pine Street, from 6th Street to 12th Street, at the heart of 
the designated downtown; and 

WHEREAS, the currently adopted Comprehensive Plan has a goal of preserving and enhancing 
historic structures when possible;  

WHEREAS, the City of Rolla, upon survey and inspection, has determined that the façade of 
Pine Street Studio exhibits deterioration and conditions consistent with the spot basis definition 
of blight, under national objective 24 CFR 570.208;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1: Downtown Revitalization 
The City of Rolla affirms that the Pine Street Studio is located within Rolla’s Downtown, an area 
targeted for revitalization in Rolla’s Draft Comprehensive Plan. 

Section 2: Needs Established in Community Plan 
The City of Rolla affirms that the refurbishment of the Pine Street Studio façade addresses needs 
identified in Rolla’s Comprehensive Plan. 

III.A.2



Section 3: Historic Significance 
The City of Rolla recognizes the Pine Street Studio (Null Building) as a structure of cultural and 
historic significance, iconic to the Rolla community, meriting preservation and revitalization for 
the benefit of current and future generations. 

Section 4: Blight Declaration 
The City of Rolla declares the Pine Street Studio to be blighted, on a spot basis, pursuant to 
national objectives defined in 24 CFR 570.208, due to the condition of the building’s façade. 

Section 5: Eligibility for Downtown Revitalization Program 
The City Rolla believes that they are eligible to pursue a grant to restore the façade of the Pine 
Street Studio under the State of Missouri’s Community Development Block Grant Downtown 
Revitalization Program with Ozark Actors Theatre as sub-applicant. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 1ST DAY OF DECEMBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 
ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR  

III.A.3





Rolla Area Chamber of Commerce

2026
TOURISM 
MARKETING
PLAN

IV.B



Executive Summary 2

Situation Analysis 
	 SWOT							 3 
	 Market Trends					 4
	 Target Markets					 5

Marketing Strategy 
Tactics & Promotional Tools		 7 

	 2026 Goals						 9

Performance Measures			      10 

1



1

Rolla stands at the heart of the Missouri Ozarks, offering the perfect blend 
of small-town charm and modern opportunity. Known for its welcoming 
community, diverse tourism offerings, and access to outdoor adventure, 
Rolla continues to attract both leisure travelers and business visitors. Its 
prime location at the crossroads of I-44, US 63, and Highway 72 makes it 
an ideal stop between St. Louis and Branson, perfect for tour groups,  
conferences, and regional events. 
 
Looking ahead, the 2026 Marketing Plan focuses on sustaining growth 
and adapting to the changing dynamics of the travel industry. Economic 
conditions, evolving visitor expectations, and advances in digital technol-
ogy continue to shape how destinations compete for attention. These 
shifts present opportunities for Rolla to innovate, strengthen partnerships, 
and highlight the authentic experiences that set our community apart. 
 
Our mission remains clear: to enhance Rolla’s economic vitality by at-
tracting visitors, supporting local businesses, and providing exceptional 
experiences for all who come here. Guided by the vision to position Rolla 
as a premier destination to visit, live, work, and play, this plan outlines the 
strategies and measurable goals that will guide our efforts through 2026. 
 
Developed by the Rolla Area Chamber of Commerce and Visitor Center, 
the 2026 Marketing Plan identifies key markets, evaluates strengths and 
opportunities, and establishes benchmarks for success. Through collabo-
ration with our business and community partners, we will continue to 
build on Rolla’s reputation as a vibrant, welcoming, and forward-thinking 
destination.

Stevie Kearse		  Aimee Campbell
Executive Director		 Tourism Director

2



Centrally located  
between St. Louis  
and Branson

Missouri University of 
Science & Technology

Arts, culture and  
history

Variety of festivals 
and events

Organization stability 

Destination Rolla 
Grant program

Located on Route 66

Traffic congestion

Inadequate public 
transportation 

 
Blighted areas 

Limited convention/
meeting space

Social media  
marketing

Amateur sporting 
events

University relations

Fort Leonard Wood 
relations

Community  
knowledge of  
tourism assets

Increased funding 
from motel tax

Regional growth and 
expansion 

Economic factors  
affecting travel  
budgets

Negative perceptions 
may deter visitors

Airbnb & VRBO  
affecting motel tax

SWOT OVERVIEW

3



MOBILE-FIRST EXPERIENCE 
Mobile devices continue to dominate traveler engagement, with nearly 80% of  
VisitRolla.com traffic in 2025 coming from phones and tablets. Travelers increasingly  
expect responsive websites, app integrations, and voice search capabilities for 
hands-free, on-the-go information. Optimizing content for AI-powered voice  
assistants and smart devices is becoming essential for capturing modern audiences.

PERSONALIZED, DATA-DRIVEN TRAVEL EXPERIENCES
Visitors now expect tailored recommendations and immersive experiences.  
AI-powered tools, chatbots, and recommendation engines help deliver personalized 
itineraries and real-time suggestions. Maintaining accurate and engaging online  
listings, particularly on Google Business Profiles and review platforms, remains criti-
cal for influencing travel decisions quickly.

AUTHENTIC USER-GENERATED CONTENT (UGC)
Modern travelers trust the experiences of fellow visitors. Photos, videos, blogs, and 
social media posts generated by guests build credibility and drive engagement.  
Collaborating with influencers and micro-influencers amplifies reach, making UGC a 
cornerstone of destination marketing strategies.

SOCIAL MEDIA AND SHORT-FORM VIDEO ENGAGEMENT
Social media remains central to tourism marketing, with short-form video formats 
like Instagram Reels, TikTok, and YouTube Shorts driving discovery and inspiration. 
Engaging, visually compelling content encourages sharing, increases brand visibility, 
and strengthens connections with a tech-savvy audience seeking authentic experi-
ences.

4

TRENDS FOR 2026



Building on past initiatives, the Rolla Chamber is committed to strengthening Rolla’s reputa-
tion as a destination for arts, culture, festivals, and community events. We recognize that local 
residents are our most influential ambassadors in promoting the city. 

With limited tourism marketing resources, we focus on strategies that deliver the greatest 
impact, targeting market segments with the highest potential for visitation and engagement. 
Rolla’s current tourism infrastructure guides this approach, helping identify the visitor groups 
that offer the strongest opportunities for growth:

VISITING FRIENDS AND RELATIVES:

• Leveraging the draw of the Missouri University of Science and Technology, a significant
source of visitors and one of the largest markets in the Rolla area.

• Capitalizing on the regular graduations at neighboring Fort Leonard Wood, which also
significantly influences tourism in Rolla.

ROUTE 66 ENTHUSIASTS:

• Leveraging Rolla's prime location along Historic Route 66 to attract and engage a broader
visitor audience.

• Significant traffic at the Rolla Visitor Center is driven by Route 66 enthusiasts, offering an
opportunity to showcase Rolla's attractions and encourage extended exploration of the
area 5



DAY TRIPPERS:

• Responding to the trend of shorter and more frequent trips, with a focused effort on
feeder markets for day trips.

• Striving to convert more day trips into overnight stays by offering compelling reasons for
visitors to extend their time in Rolla

CORPORATE/BUSINESS TRAVELERS:

• Recognizing that business travelers often extend their stays to partake in tourism activities.

• Collaborating with local meeting and conference planners to enhance the overall
experience for business travelers.

SPORTING EVENTS:

• Rolla boasts an extensive 300 acres of expansive parkland for outdoor sporting activities,
complemented by 50,000 square feet of gymnasium space for diverse indoor events.

• Rolla's renowned hospitality fosters a strong sense of community, ensuring a positive
experience for both participants and visitors. Its strategic location enhances accessibility,
drawing attendees from across the region and contributing to the success of local events.

TOUR GROUPS:

• While Rolla may not be a traditional group destination, its central location offers a unique
advantage as a convenient stop or hub for tour groups

• By targeting tour groups traveling to major destinations like Branson and St. Louis, Rolla
can foster partnerships with nearby communities to craft appealing multi-day itineraries
that enhance the overall visitor experience.

5 6



TACTICS & PROMOTIONAL TOOLS
In 2026, Rolla’s marketing efforts will continue to integrate 
both digital and traditional channels, using a strategic ap-
proach designed to increase visibility, drive engagement, and 
connect visitors with local businesses and attractions. The key 
elements of our strategy include:

WEBSITE
VisitRolla.com serves as the central hub for tourism-related infor-
mation, offering free business listings and an event platform for all 
activities in Phelps County. In 2026, we will continue to optimize the 
site for mobile devices and voice search, ensuring a seamless experi-
ence for visitors on the go. Recently, we added a chatbot to provide 
real-time assistance, answer visitor questions, and guide users to 
events, attractions, and local businesses. Targeted Search Engine 
Marketing (SEM) campaigns, including paid search and local SEO 
enhancements, will further increase visibility in search results and 
connect more travelers to Rolla’s offerings.

SOCIAL MEDIA
Trip planning is increasingly shifting to social media, as travelers 
turn to platforms for inspiration, recommendations, and real-time 
information. Rolla Tourism maintains active Facebook, Instagram, 
and TikTok profiles, with steady growth in followers and engage-
ment year over year. In 2026, we will focus on creating visually com-
pelling, shareable content, including short-form videos on TikTok 
and Instagram Reels to highlight attractions, events, and experi-
ences in Rolla. Paid social campaigns will promote key events and 
seasonal activities, while encouraging tourism partners and visitors 
to tag Rolla and use the hashtag #LoveRollaMo, helping to organi-
cally expand our reach and influence travel decisions.

7



RPHOTOS & VIDEO 
Visual storytelling remains one of the most 
powerful ways to connect with potential 
visitors. We will continue to grow our photo 
and video library, capturing the essence of 
Rolla’s dining, lodging, events, and out-
door recreation experiences. High-quality 
images and engaging videos will be used 
across our website, social media channels, 
and marketing materials to inspire curios-
ity, showcase authentic experiences, and 
strengthen Rolla’s identity as a welcoming 
destination.

FAMILIARIZATION TOURS
We are excited to extend an invitation to 
tour group planners to explore all that 
Rolla has to offer through our exclusive "Be 
Our Guest" campaign. This initiative offers 
tour group planners and a guest an all-
expense-paid overnight stay, complete with 
a delightful dinner, tickets to a show, and 
engaging tours of our attractions.

PARTNERSHIPS
Embracing a collaborative partnership 
strategy in marketing strengthens unity and 
amplifies results. Rolla Tourism is proud to 
work alongside Geared for Phelps, the Rolla 
Downtown Business Association, and Ex-
plore the Fort. Regular meetings with these 
valued organizations enable joint planning 
of marketing initiatives and events, ensur-
ing a unified and impactful approach. In 
addition, we collaborate with local hotels 
and restaurants to expand our reach by 
providing tent cards featuring a QR code 
that directs guests to VisitRolla.com 

TEXT ALERTS
SMS marketing in tourism serves multiple 
purposes by leveraging the immediacy and 
directness of text messaging to engage 
both locals and tourists. The focus of the 
messaging is on upcoming events, festivals, 
and activities in Phelps County, aiming to 
enhance their experience and encourage 
active participation.

PRINT PUBLICATIONS
Currently, we offer a comprehensive Rolla 
Visitor Guide featuring an engaging A-Z 
theme that highlights local attractions and 
activities. We also offer a printed Phelps 
County Map. Both are included in welcome 
packets, distributed during  
bi-monthly visits to Fort Leonard Wood, 
and available at the Rolla Visitor Center and 
other statewide welcome centers.

BILLBOARDS
Rolla Tourism currently utilizes three  
billboards along Interstate 44, one on south 
Highway 63, and a new digital billboard in 
St. Robert. These billboards prominently 
display VisitRolla.com, capturing the  
attention of travelers and driving online 
engagement by providing an easy gateway 
to explore our offerings. In 2026, we will 
continue to evaluate and pursue additional 
billboard opportunities in high-traffic areas 
to further increase visibility and connect 
with potential  
visitors.

RADIO CAMPAIGN
Commercials promoting local events will 
air on major radio stations throughout the 
year. Rolla Tourism will also run  
general ads directing listeners to our web-
site, along with appearances on talk radio 
shows to further engage the  
audience

PRINT ADVERTISING
Print advertising remains a valuable tool 
for building brand awareness and reaching 
targeted audiences. By featuring Rolla in 
a variety of print outlets, we can highlight 
attractions and events while inspiring po-
tential visitors. When paired with QR codes 
or digital calls-to-action, these ads create 
a seamless connection between print and 
online resources, guiding travelers from 
discovery to trip planning.

MARKETING STRATEGY (cont.)

7 8



Expand the Destination Rolla 
Grant Program
We will expand the Destination 
Rolla Grant to support tourism 
attractions and projects, and 
increase funding for events that 
drive overnight stays.

Expand Digital Marketing
Grow Rolla’s online presence by 
increasing paid social media  
advertising and expanding  
geofencing efforts to reach and 
engage more potential visitors.

Regional Outreach 
Increase awareness of attractions, 
events, and businesses by 
expanding marketing efforts and 
exploring new ways to engage the 
Fort Leonard Wood community.

Collaborate with Rolla Lodging, 
Restaurants, and Attractions 
Conduct monthly visits to 
strengthen relationships and  
provide updates to local partners.

Sports Event Planning
Work with area sports organiza-
tions to encourage more sporting 
events in the area through our 
grant process, planning  
assistance and RFP research. 

Be Our Guest Campaign
Partner with local attractions for 
the “Be Our Guest” campaign 
(FAM visits for tour planners).

Focus on Visual Content
Increase engagement and  
awareness by emphasizing  
content marketing through  
compelling videos and images 
across social media channels.

Enhance Radio Promotions
We will expand our advertising 
efforts through streaming radio 
platforms to reach listeners both 
locally and regionally.

9

20262026 Goals



RRACC systematically tracks various metrics for destination performance and marketing  
effectiveness. Monthly assessments include motel tax revenue, lodging occupancy, website  
activity, Visitor Center traffic, and group tour engagement in Rolla. Comparative analysis  
involves evaluating the current month against the previous year, assessing the marketing effort 
and campaign effectiveness.

TOURISM RESEARCH

Research plays a vital role in tourism planning by uncovering the latest visitor trends and travel 
habits. The following will be utilized to measure visitation data:

• STR Report - Track lodging occupancy, rates, demand and revenues generated in Rolla by
receiving monthly reports from Smith Travel Research.

• Tourism Updates - Follow industry trends and the latest tourism research through
reports provided by the MO Division of Tourism, MO Association of
Convention and Visitor Bureau, MO Travel Alliance and National Association of Sports
Commissions.

• In-House Tracking Methods - Track Rolla Visitor Center traffic and requests for
tourism information.

• Event Surveys - Collaborate with event planners to conduct surveys during Rolla events.

• Placer AI - A software tool that enhances our ability to analyze visitor data, track trends in
tourism behavior, and optimize marketing efforts to better reach and engage our audiences.

EVALUATION

Targeted marketing programs and activities are evaluated for effectiveness and return on 
investment by:

• Website Traffic - Track visits, sources and demographics
through Google Analytics.

• Social Media Reach - Measure ad performance, number
of shares and follower engagement.

• E-Communications - Track E-Newsletter readership.

• Digital Marketing Metrics - Targeted marketing programs and
activities are evaluated for effectiveness by analyzing performance data.9 10



Group Travel for 2026 

Tourism Groups 
The Drive Home VII: Route 66 – January 11th 
The Drive Home VII group is traveling Route 66 from Santa Monica, California, to 
Chicago, Illinois, from January 3–12. They will make a brief stop in Rolla on January 11 
as they travel toward St. Louis. During their 30-minute visit, we will open the Visitor 
Center and provide coffee, pastries, and access to restrooms. The group will be 
traveling with 12 cars, which will later be showcased at the Detroit Auto Show on 
January 14. 

Fort Leonard Wood Spouses Tour – April 8th 
Our annual outing for the spouses of active-duty military personnel at Fort Leonard 
Wood is scheduled for April 8. This full-day event includes transportation to Phelps 
County, where participants will enjoy lunch, shopping, and other engaging activities. We 
are looking forward to this year’s event and will share additional details as planning 
continues. 

Big BAM – September 8th 
Big BAM is Missouri’s annual bike ride across the state, held on the KATY Trail with 
additional road routes tied to special events, including next year’s 100th Anniversary of 
Route 66. Riders will be traveling from September 4–10 and will stop in Rolla on 
September 8 for an overnight stay. We will provide shuttle services from their campsite 
to downtown so participants can enjoy local restaurants and attractions during their visit. 

Irish 66er’s – September 25th 
The Irish 66ers are a group of motorcyclists from Ireland who travel to the United States 
every two years to ride Route 66. They have participated in the Route 66 Motorcycle 
Challenge since 2002 and have supported Temple Street Hospital and, more recently, 
the Children’s Health Foundation through their fundraising efforts. During their visit, we 
will host a hospitality dinner and provide evening entertainment for the group. 

Group Conferences/Meetings 
Community of the Ozarks 
The Community of the Ozarks will host its conference on April 24 at Missouri S&T, with 
a welcome reception at Hasselman House. I have arranged room blocks at three local 
hotels to accommodate the group, which is expected to bring nearly 200 attendees and 
require more than 75 rooms over the two-day event. 



Postal Carriers Convention 
Approximately 100 postal carriers will join us in Rolla from June 9–12, 2026, for their 
annual convention. To welcome the group, we will host a kick-off dinner at the Lions 
Club Den on their arrival day. We are excited to highlight all that Rolla has to offer 
during their four-day stay and look forward to providing a memorable and enjoyable 
experience in our community.

RootED Conference 
Each August, approximately 175 rootED Missouri Advisors gather for their annual 
conference, a key professional development event that supports college and career 
advising in rural high schools across the state. This year, organizers are planning to 
introduce a new format featuring both general and breakout sessions, along with 
potential industry and education tours showcasing Missouri partners and resources. To 
support this expanded agenda, the conference will require hotel accommodations and 
meeting spaces capable of hosting large-group sessions as well as smaller, concurrent 
activities. The event is tentatively scheduled to take place at the Havener Center from 
August 3–5, with additional details to come as planning progresses. 





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

 ACTION REQUESTED:  Bid Award/Ordinance DEPARTMENT:   Public Works 

SUBJECT:  Project449 – Little Oaks Road Improvements 

PREPARED BY:  Darin Pryor 

ATTACHMENTS:  Ordinance, Contract, Bid Tabulation 

 (CASE/PROJECT #)  449     MEETING DATE: December 1st, 2025 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
Overview: City staff received bids for Little Oaks Road Improvements project. The bids were as follows:  

Donald Maggi, Inc. $310,900.50 
PO Box 66 
Rolla, MO  65402 

This bid is for all of the concrete improvements on Little Oaks from Rolla Street to Bishop Avenue.  It 
includes new curb and gutter, sidewalks, and driveways.   

Background information:  Little Oaks Road was part of the Southside annex. It is the last road in the 
Southside annex that has not been improved to city standards.  The new roadway will be 30’ wide 
(from back of curbs) with new curb, gutter, driveways and storm drainage. 

Fiscal considerations: The adopted FY 26 budget appropriated $450,000 for this project under Contract 
Curb, Sidewalk & Drives. 

Recommendation: 

Staff is requesting the final reading of the ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into the contract 
with Donald Maggi, Inc. for $310,900.50. 

V.A.1



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CERTAIN 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND DONALD MAGGI, 
INC. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1:  That the Mayor of the City of Rolla, Missouri be and is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute on behalf of the City of Rolla, Missouri an agreement between 
the City of Rolla and Donald Maggi, Inc., a copy of said agreement being attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2:  This ordinance will be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 1ST DAY OF DECEMBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR 

V.A.2



EXHIBIT A 

CONTRACT AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this  Day of by and 
between the City of Rolla, Missouri, Party of the First Part and hereinafter called Owner,  and 

Donald Maggi, Inc. Party of the second Part and 
hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

THAT WHEREAS, the Owner has caused to be prepared, in accordance with law, specifications, 
plans, and other Contract Documents for the work herein described, and has approved and adopted 
said documents, and has caused to be published and advertised for and in connection with the 
construction of: Little Oaks Road Improvements, PROJECT 449, in complete accord with the 
Contract Documents and the said plans and specifications; and 

WHEREAS, the said Contractor, in response to such advertisement, has submitted to the Owner, 
in the manner and at the time specified, a sealed proposal in accordance with the terms of said 
advertisement; and 

WHEREAS, the Owner, in the manner prescribed by law, has publicly opened, examined and 
canvassed the proposals submitted in response to the published invitation therefore, and as a result 
of such canvass has determined and declared the aforesaid Contractor to be lowest and best bidder 
for the said work and has duly awarded to the said Contractor a contract therefore, for the sum or 
sums named in the Contractor’s proposal, a copy thereof being attached to and made a part of this 
contract. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the compensation to be paid to the Contractor and of the 
mutual agreement herein contained, the parties to these presents have agreed and hereby agree, the 
Owner for itself and its successors, and the Contractor for itself, himself, or themselves, or its, his 
or their successors and assigns, or its, his, or their executors and administrators, as follows: 

ARTICLE I.  That the Contractor shall (a) furnish all tools, equipment, supplies, superintendent, 
transportation, and other construction accessories, services and facilities; (b) furnish all materials, 
supplies, and equipment specified and required to be incorporated in, and form a permanent part 
of the completed work except the items specified to be furnished by the Owner; (c) provide and 
perform all necessary labor, and (d) in a good, substantial, and workmanlike manner, and in 
accordance with the provisions of the General Conditions and the Special Conditions of the 
Contract, which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, and in conformity with the Contract 
Plans and Specifications designated and identified therein, execute, construct, and complete all 
work included in, and covered by the Owner’s official award of this Contract to the said Contractor, 
such award being based on the acceptance by the Owner of the Contractor’s proposal, for the 
construction of  Little Oaks Road Improvements, PROJECT 449. 

V.A.3



It is further stipulated that not less than the prevailing hourly rate of wages as found by the 
Department of Labor and Industrial Relations of the State of Missouri, or determined by the Court 
of Appeal shall be paid to all workers performing work under this Contract. 

ARTICLE II.  Contractor acknowledges that Section 285.530, R.S.Mo, prohibits any business 
entity or employer from knowingly employing, hiring for employment, or continuing to employ 
an unauthorized alien to perform work within the State of Missouri.  Contractor therefore 
covenants that it is not knowingly in violation of Subsection 1 of Section 285.530, R.S.Mo, and 
that it will not knowingly employ, hire for employment, or continue to employ any unauthorized 
aliens to perform work on the Project, and that its employees are lawfully eligible to work in the 
United States. 

ARTICLE III.  Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
Safety Training: 
a. Contractor shall provide a ten (10) hour Occupational Safety and Health Administration

(OSHA) construction safety program for all employees who will be on-site at the project.
The construction safety program shall include a course in construction safety and health
that is approved by OSHA or a similar program approved by the Missouri Department of
Labor and Industrial Relations which is at least as stringent as an approved OSHA program
as required by Section 292.675, R.S.Mo.

b. Contractor shall require its on-site employees to complete a construction safety program
within sixty (60) days after the date work on the project commences.

c. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that any of Contractor’s employees found on the
project site without the documentation of the successful completion of a construction safety
program shall be required to produce such documentation within twenty (20) days, or will
be subject to removal from the project.

d. Contractor shall require all of its subcontractors to comply with the requirements of this
Section and Section 292.675, R.S.Mo.

Notice of Penalties for Failure to Provide Safety Training 
a. Pursuant to Section 292.675, R.S.Mo, Contractor shall forfeit to City as a penalty two

thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00), plus one hundred dollars ($100.00) for each on-
site employee employed by Contractor or its Subcontractor, for each calendar day, or
portion thereof, such on-site employee is employed without the construction safety training
required in Safety Training section of Article III above.

b. The penalty described in above subsection A of this section shall not begin to accrue until
the time periods described in Sections B and C Safety Training of Article III above have
elapsed.

c. Violations of Article III – Safety Training above and imposition of the penalty described
in this Section shall be investigated and determined by the Missouri Department of Labor
and Industrial Relations.

ARTICLE IV.  That the Contractor shall construct and complete the work designated and 
described in the foregoing proposal and attached specifications in accordance with the Notice to 
Bidders, Instruction to Bidders, Proposal, Bond, General Conditions, Special Conditions, 
Technical Specifications, Drawings, Addenda, and other component parts of the Contract 
Documents hereto attached, all of which documents from the Contract and are as fully a part hereto 
as if repeated verbatim herein. 

V.A.4



ARTICLE V.  That the Owner shall pay to the Contractor for the performance of the work 
described as follows:  Complete construction of the improvements in accordance with plans and 
specifications; and the Contractor will accept as full compensation therefore, the sum (subject to  
adjustment as provided by the Contract) of $310,900.50 for 

All work covered by and included in the contract award and designated in the foregoing Article I.  
Payment therefore shall be made in the manner provided in the General Conditions attached hereto. 

ARTICLE VI.  That the Contractor shall begin assembly of materials and equipment within ten 
(10) days after receipt from the Owner of executed copies of the Contract  and that the Contractor
shall complete said work within 120 consecutive calendar days from the thirtieth day after the
Effective Date of the Agreement, or if a Notice to Proceed is given, from the date indicated in the
Notice to Proceed.

OWNER and Contractor recognize time is of the essence of this agreement and that OWNER will 
suffer financial loss if the work is not completed within the time specified above, plus any 
extensions thereof allowed in allowance with Article 12 of the General Conditions. OWNER and 
Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay, but not as a penalty, Contractor shall pay 
OWNER Five Hundred dollars ($ 500 ) each consecutive calendar day of each section that expires 
following the time specified above for completion of the work. 

Liquidated damages will be waived for any one period of time covered by a time extension granted 
by the OWNER. 

In case of joint responsibility for any delay in the final completion of the Work covered by the 
Agreement; where two or more separate Agreements are in force at the same time and cover work 
on the same project and at the same site, the total amount of liquidated damages assessed against 
all contractors under such Agreement for any one day of delay in the final completion of the Work 
will not be greater than the approximate total of the damages sustained by the OWNER by reason 
of such delay in completion of the Work, and the amount assessed against any Contractor for such 
one day of delay will be based upon the individual responsibility of such Contractor for the 
aforesaid delay as determined by and in the judgment of the OWNER. 

The OWNER shall have the right to deduct said liquidated damages from any moneys in its hands, 
otherwise due or to become due to said Contractor, or sue for and recover compensation for 
damages fornonperformance of the Agreement at the time stipulated herein and provided for. 

ARTICLE VII.  Before the final payment can be made to the Contractor on the project, the 
Contractor must complete and return the Affidavit Compliance with the Prevailing Wage Law 
form furnished at the end of the Special Conditions section. 

ARTICLE VIII.  Before the final payment can be made on the project to the Contractor, the 
Contractor must complete and return the Contractor’s Affidavit Regarding Settlement of Claims 
form furnished at the end of the Special Conditions section. 

ARTICLE IX.  This Contract will not be binding and effective until confirmed by the Owner. 

V.A.5



IN WITNESS-WHEREOF:  The parties have executed this Contract as of the day and year first 
above written. 

CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI CONTRACTOR 

BY  BY  
Mayor, Owner, Party of the First Part 

Printed Name Printed Name/Title 

STATE OF MISSOURI ) 
SS ) 
County of Phelps ) 

On this  day of  before me appeared  , 
to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Mayor of the City 
of Rolla, Missouri, a municipal corporation, and the seal affixed to said instrument is the 
corporate seal of said municipal corporation and that said instrument is the corporate seal of said 
municipal corporation and that said instrument was signed under authority of the City Council of 
of the City of Rolla, Missouri; and the said  Acknowledged 

said instrument to be the free act and deed of said municipal corporation. 

My commission expires: 

Notary Public 

STATE OF MISSOURI ) 
SS ) 
County of Phelps ) 

On this  day of  before me appeared , 
to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that (s)he is the 
of  

and that the seal affixed to said instrument is the corporate seal of said corporation by authority 
of its board of directors; and the said acknowledged said 

instrument to be the free act and deed of said corporation. 

My commission expires: 

Notary Public 

V.A.6



DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

TOTAL
Curb & Gutter 4,787    LF 31.50$      150,790.50$  
6" Driveway 4,550    SF 11.95$      54,372.50$    
4" Sidewalk 12,350  SF 7.25$         89,537.50$    
2" Conduit 3,600    LF 4.50$         16,200.00$    

TOTAL BID PRICE

QTY.

Donald Maggi, Inc.
Dennis Spurgeon

maggiconst@gmail.com

LITTLE OAKS ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
PROJECT 449

PO Box 66
Rolla, MO 65402

FAX: 573-341-5065
Ph: 573-364-7733

310,900.50$  

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  
901 North Elm

P.O. Box 979
Rolla, MO  65402

Phone:  (573) 364-8659 e-mail:  dpryor@rollacity.gov ww.rollacity.gov

V.A.7

mailto:maggiconst@gmail.com
mailto:maggiconst@gmail.com




VI.A.1



VI.A.2



VI.A.3



VI.A.4



VI.A.5



X.B.1





X.C.1




	20251201 cm
	1. City Council Minutes – November 3rd, 2025
	3. City Council Minutes – November 17th, 2025
	a) Environmental Services Department monthly report - October 2025
	b) Building Codes monthly report – October 2025
	c) Rolla Police Department monthly report – October 2025
	d) Animal Control monthly report – October 2025
	e) Rolla Municipal Court summary – October 2025
	f) The Centre Income Statement ending - October 2025
	g) Fire Incident Report for October 2025
	h) City of Rolla Financials for October 2025
	i) BPAC meeting minutes for May 5th, 2025, April 8th, 2025, and October 1, 2024
	BPAC May 5th
	BPAC April 8
	BPAC Oct 1, 2024
	A. Public Hearing and Resolution  for Ozark Actor’s Theater (OATS) blight and declaration of historical structure to be continued from November 17th. (Community Development Director Dawn Bell)
	B. Stevie Kearse, Executive Director RACC, Aimee Campbell, Tourism Director RACC: 2026 tourism/marketing plans.
	A. Ordinance to enter into agreement with Donald Maggi, Inc., for Little Oaks Road Improvements. (PW Director Darin Pryor) Final Reading
	A. Resolution renewing contract for video production services with Image-In, LLC. (City Administrator Keith Riesberg)
	B. Opening day of Candidate Filing: Tuesday, December 9th, 2025 at 8:00 am on the 3rd floor of the City Hall.
	C. Wreath’s Across America, December 13th, 2025 (Parks Director Floyd Jernigan)




